



PHASE 1 ENVIRONMENTAL DUE DILIGENCE ASSESSMENT (EDD)

10 Herbert Street, St Leonards, NSW Napier & Blakeley Pty Ltd

12/09/2013

Issue/revision	DRAFT	FINAL	
Remarks	For client comment	-	
Date	3 July 2013	12 September 2013	
Prepared by	Nicolas Kuerzinger	Nicolas Kuerzinger	
Signature	, Joseph .	woogiya	
Checked by	Nicolas Kuerzinger	Nicolas Kuerzinger	
Signature	Looging	alooziyi	
Authorised by	Stephen Barnett	Stephen Barnett	
Signature	ABOD	Coast .	
Project number	00040297	00040297	
File reference	00040297 – 10 Herbert Street, St Leonards, NSW – Jul 2013 Draft	00040297 – 10 Herbert Street, St Leonards, NSW – Sept 2013_FINAL	

Phase 1 Environmental Due Diligence Assessment (EDD) 10 Herbert Street, St Leonards, NSW

12/09/2013

Client

Napier & Blakeley Pty Ltd Level 11 309 Kent Street, Sydney 2000 Australia

Consultant

WSP Environment & Energy Level 1, 41 McLaren Street North Sydney NSW 2060 Australia

Tel: 02 8925 6700 Fax: 02 8907 0999

Registered Address

WSP Environmental Pty Ltd ABN: 82 119 251 179 Level 1, 41 McLaren Street, North Sydney 2060

WSP Contacts

Stephen Barnett Tel: (02) 8925 6700



Table of Contents

Executive Summary				
1 Introduction 6 1.1 Background 6 1.2 Scope 6 1.3 Basis of Environmental Risk Assessment 6	;			
2 Site Description 7 2.1 Site Details 7 2.2 Site Layout and Operations 7 2.3 Provided Information 8 2.4 Site History 8 2.5 Regulatory Database Search 9 2.6 WorkCover NSW – Dangerous Goods Search 9	, , ; ; ;			
3Environmental Setting103.1Topography and Hydrology103.2Soils and Geology103.3Hydrogeology103.4Surrounding Landuses10)			
4 Site Observations 11				
5 Findings	5			
6 Environmental Risk Assessment 15)			
7 Limitations				
8 References				
Appendix A – Site Location				
Appendix B – Site Photographs 19				
Appendix C – Historical Title Search				
Appendix D – Historical Aerial Photographs				
Appendix E – Groundwater Bore Search 22	Appendix E – Groundwater Bore Search			

Executive Summary

Background and Objectives:

WSP Environment & Energy Pty Ltd (WSP) was engaged by Napier & Blakeley Pty Ltd to conduct a Phase 1 Environmental Due Diligence (EDD) Assessment of a property located at 10 Herbert Street, St Leonards, NSW ('the Site').

WSP understands that Napier & Blakeley's objective is to identify and assess potential environmental risks and issues at the Site as part of their client's proposed property acquisition and potential future redevelopment works.

Summary of Findings:

Findings and observations of the Phase I EDD Assessment are summarised below.

- The Site was occupied by two commercial buildings, consisting of showrooms, administrations areas, storerooms and a vehicle service centre. External areas consisted of access driveways, open air car parking and storage areas.
- The Site has historically been used for residential and industrial purposes, including a former quarry with the south western corner of the Site associated with a brick and tile manufacturer.
- The Site was redeveloped between 1956 and 1965 to include the majority of the current Site buildings and layout, however extensive refurbishment works have been undertaken since this time.
- Historical and current surrounding landuse has included commercial/industrial facilities, including the former quarry with regards to the brick and tile manufacturer.
- The following potential sources of contamination were identified at the Site:
 - Uncontrolled filling associated with former quarrying within the south-western portion of the Site;
 - A UST and fuel bowser (including adjacent pit) located adjacent to the western boundary of the Site;
 - A potential UST to the centre of the northern boundary along Frederick Street;
 - A wash down bay;
 - The oil store room.
- No significant issues were identified in relation to general environmental compliance issues including waste management, emissions to air, environmental noise, vapour intrusion or radon concentrations.

Based on the information obtained and reviewed as part of this Phase 1 Environmental Due Diligence, it is the opinion of WSP that the Site represents a **Moderate** risk of environmental liability for the continued commercial/industrial use of the Site and any future Site redevelopment works.

As such, WSP Environmental recommend that a Targeted Investigation should be undertaken in relation to the environmental issues noted within this report to document the potential contamination status of the Site.



1 Introduction

1.1 Background

WSP Environment & Energy Pty Ltd (WSP) was engaged by Napier & Blakeley to conduct a Phase I Environmental Due Diligence (EDD) Assessment of a property located at 10 Herbert Street, St Leonards, NSW ('the Site'). At the time of the Site assessment, the Site was on operational commercial car dealership and associated vehicle service centre. The Site had a total area of approximately 8,800 m².

WSP understands that the objective of the Phase 1 EDD is to identify and assess potential environmental risks and issues at the Site as part of a proposed property acquisition and potential future redevelopment works.

1.2 Scope

The following scope of works was completed as part of the Phase I EDD:

- Desktop study to review existing and historic land uses and the Site's environmental setting, including but not limited to:
 - Obtain and review Land Titles records, historical aerial photographs and Government databases;
 - Review of any environmental documentation held by the site owner, including environmental reports, permits, authorisations and licences;
 - Review of published maps and databases pertaining to the Site's environmental setting to assess the Site's geology, hydrogeology and hydrology.
- Site inspection, including but not limited to observations of:
 - Drainage features, Site topography, presence / absence of hardstand, surrounding land uses;
 - Inspection of environmental permits;
 - Above and underground storage tanks;
 - Chemical handling and storage;
 - Waste management;
 - Air and noise emissions;
 - Water and wastewater management;
 - Hazardous building materials;
 - Potential sources of soil and groundwater contamination.
- Preparation of a Phase I EDD Report.

1.3 Basis of Environmental Risk Assessment

This assessment has been undertaken with due regard to relevant Australian State and Federal environmental legislation and regulations, guidance and best practice documents and Australian environmental standards.

The potential environmental risk has been assessed qualitatively using the 'source - pathway - target pollutant linkage' concept, which states that for a liability to arise each stage of the pollutant linkage must be present.

In addition, consideration has been given to a wide range of related topics including (where appropriate): environmental processes; current and foreseeable environmental legislation; the practices and duties of environmental regulators; the health and safety of occupiers and neighbours as affected by contamination;

effects on the structure of buildings; and financial implications. References to risk classifications are made according to the following definitions:

- Low Risk it is unlikely that the issue will arise as a liability/cost for the owner of the Site.
- Moderate Risk it is possible that the issue could arise as a liability/cost for the owner of the Site. Further
 work is usually required to clarify the risk.
- High Risk it is likely that the issue will arise as a liability/cost for the owner of the Site.

2 Site Description

2.1 Site Details

Details of the Site location, ownership, zoning and current Site use are provided in **Table 2.1** below (Refer to Figure 1, **Appendix A** for Site location plan).

 Table 2.1
 Site Identification

Site Address	10 Herbert Street, St Leonards, NSW
Legal description	Lot C DP401303
Size	Land area is understood to be approximately 8,800 m ² .
Current Site Use	Commercial car dealership (multiple manufacturers) and associated vehicle service centre.
Zoning	IN2 – Light Industrial – Willoughby City Council – Local Environmental Plan 2012
Age of Buildings	Original development between 1956 and 1965.

2.2 Site Layout and Operations

A Site inspection was completed 28 June 2013 by Nicolas Kuerzinger (WSP) and included both the exterior and interior of the Site (where accessible). Following a brief interview and Site walkover with the Group Financial Controller, WSP undertook an unescorted inspection of the Site.

Access was obtained to the majority of the Site, including showrooms, vehicle service centre, administration and sales buildings, machinery maintenance areas, staff amenities and external vehicle holding areas. Due to Work Health and Safety (WHS) and access constraints, an inspection of the building roof areas was not undertaken. Photographs taken during the Site inspection are included within **Appendix B**.

At the time of the Site inspection, the Site contained two separate commercial buildings, within the western half of the Site and to the eastern boundary. An open air car park/vehicle holding area separated the two buildings.

The building along the eastern boundary consisted of showrooms and offices to the ground floor and vehicle holding /cleaning area to the lower ground floor. It is understood that this building had been originally constructed between 1956 and 1965 but has been extensively refurbished and extended circa 2008.

The building within the western half of the Site consisted of showrooms and offices, vehicle service centre, storerooms, wash down bay and undercover access driveway to the centre open air car park.

The Site was bound by Herbert Street to the east, Frederick Street to the north and commercial/industrial properties to the west and south.



2.3 Provided Information

Napier & Blakeley's Senior Associate provided WSP with the following report:

Tanknology Australia (September 2011) - Vacutect Tank & Line Condition Report, North Shore Auto Group

The following summaries general observations and findings made by Tanknology as presented in their report:

- The test was in association within one 22,500 litre underground tank containing unleaded fuel (Note: WSP assumes this to be the tank located adjacent to the western Site boundary)
- The tank showed no signs or air or water ingress or excessive vacuum decay and no audible faults were detected
- The tank tested tight
- The Precision Tank Test used during the assessment exceeded the U.S. EPA required leak detection criteria of 0.38 Litres Per Hour (LPH)
- Unleaded suction line #1 off tank #1 passed hydrostatic pressure testing with a Final Leak Rate of -0.026 litres per hour

No recommendations were put forward within the report.

2.4 Site History

2.4.1 Aerial Photographs

In 1943 the Site consisted of residential buildings to the corner of Herbert and Frederick Street with a large excavated pit to the south western corner. The remainder of the Site was occupied by open space. By 1956 the site had been cleared of building structures and the majority of the pit had been filled in.

From 1965 the Site had been developed to include a large warehouse within the western half and open air car park and an additional building to the east, south east. The Site remained relatively unchanged until at least 1986. By 1999 the eastern boundary building had been extended and minor changes were noted to the warehouse building.

Historical surrounding landuse has generally included industrial activities, including a brick and tile manufacturer (considered to be up-gradient of the Site). Significant excavation works had been undertaken to the south and south east of the Site (which extended into the south western corner of the Site). By 1965 the excavated pit had been fill in and the area subsequently developed into commercial/industrial properties.

Figures of the historical aerial photographs reviewed as part of this assessment are provided within **Appendix D**.

2.4.2 Certificates of Title

Historical Certificates of Title were obtained from Advanced Legal Searches on 01/07/2013. The Certificates of Title are provided in **Appendix C** and summarised in **Table 2.2**.

Table 2.2 Summary of Certificates of Title

Lot C DP401303			
Year	Site Occupier		
2005 – to date	Motive Properties II Pty Limited		
1992 – 2005	General Motors – Holden's Sales Pty Limited		
1988 – 1992	Jennings Group Limited		
1957 – 1988	Larke Neave Investments Pty Limited (lease to Garden Chemicals (Australasia Pty Limited between 1970 and 1981)		
1950 – 1957	North Sydney Brick and Tile Company Pty Limited		

2.5 Regulatory Database Search

A search of the NSW Environmental Protection Authority (EPA) website on 1 July 2013 indicated that:

- The site is not listed on the Contaminated Land Record of Notices.
- The site is not listed on the Protection of the Environment Operations (POEO) Record of Notices.
- No Licences or Notices have been issued for the site under the *Protection of the Environment Operations Act, 1997.*
- The site is not listed on the NSW Contaminated Sites Notified to EPA
- No Notices or Orders to investigate or remediate the site have been issued for the site or immediately
 adjacent sites under the Contaminated Land Management Act, 1997.

2.6 WorkCover NSW – Dangerous Goods Search

A WorkCover NSW – Site Search for Notified Storage of Dangerous Goods has been undertaken by WSP as part of this assessment. However, the results of the WorkCover NSW search were not provided within the timeframe of this assessment. Upon receipt of the search results, WSP will update this report.



3 Environmental Setting

3.1 Topography and Hydrology

The general topography of the Site was found to be relatively flat, however this was due to significant excavations having been undertaken within the eastern half of the Site. The natural topography of the surrounding area was noted to be between 79 meters Australian Height Datum (mAHD) to the western half of the site and 83 mAHD to the northern boundary. The surrounding area was considered to be relativity flat with an overall gradient to the north, north east. The nearest natural down gradient water body, Saltpan Creek, was located approximately 1,500m east of the Site.

3.2 Soils and Geology

Based on a review of the Geological Survey NSW (1983) *Sydney 1:100,000* Geological sheet 9130, the Site is located over Triassic aged Ashfield Shale, consisting of black to dark grey shale and laminate, which in turn overlies Triassic aged Hawkesbury Sandstone consisting of medium to coarse grained quartz sandstone, very minor shale and laminite lenses.

The Australian Soil Resource Information System (ASRIS) and CSIRO Australia (<u>www.asris.csiro.au</u>), consider that the general soil type of the Site is comprised of Kandosol soils. Kandosols are generally described as having a moderate chemical fertility and water holding capacity.

In addition, a review of the ASRIS - Acid Sulphate Risk map identified that the Site is located within an area of extremely low probability of acid sulphate soil (ASS) occurrence.

3.3 Hydrogeology

A search of the NSW Natural Resource Atlas website (http://www.nratlas.nsw.gov.au) identified two groundwater bores of relevance within a 1 km radius of the Site (refer **Appendix E**).

The groundwater bores identified indicated that the geology beneath the Site would consist of clay and sandy clay to approximately 4 meters below ground level (mbgl), followed by relatively deep sandstone bedrock to 25 mbgl (approx.) and shale and sandstone lenses to 35 mbgl (approx.). Both groundwater bores recorded water bearing zones from 29 to 32 mbgl (approx.). As such, groundwater beneath the Site is expected to be encountered at depths greater than 20 mbgl.

3.4 Surrounding Landuses

The Site is located within a mixed commercial/industrial area. Adjacent landuses include:

- North: Frederick Street followed by commercial properties
- East: Herbert Street followed by commercial properties
- South: commercial/industrial properties
- West: commercial/industrial properties

4 Site Observations

The following information and observations were obtained/made during the Site inspection:

- Information regarding current and historical environmental permits and licences was requested during the Site inspection, however no documentation was provided within the timeframe of this assessment.
- It is understood that the Site contains an oil/water separator in association with a wash down bay. It was reported that the separator is routinely serviced and emptied by a third party contractor.
- One 22,500 Litre underground storage tank (UST) containing unleaded petrol was observed adjacent to the western boundary of the Site.
- One fuel bowser, and associated fuel lines, were observed to be connected to the UST.
- Although bunding was provided within the refuelling area to the south of the fuel bowser, a metal grilled pit
 was identified within the bunded area (Photos 1 and 2 within Appendix B) and liquid was noted within the
 pit depth unknown. No further information was obtained as to:
 - the function of the pit,
 - whether the pit is pumped out on a scheduled basis,
 - whether the pit is connected the oil/water separator; or
 - whether the pit flows into stormwater drains
- Potential borehole locations of a previous soil and/or groundwater investigation were identified within the vicinity of the UST and wash down bay (Photo 3 with Appendix B) no further information was provided during the Site inspection.
- A potential fill/dip point for an additional UST (Photos 4 and 5 within Appendix B) was identified to the centre of the northern boundary along Frederick Street (adjacent to the main electrical switchboard) – no further information was provided during the Site inspection.
- Significant quantities of oil and lubricants were located within the vehicle service centre, including large above ground storage tanks and within a Main Oil Storeroom to the south eastern corner of the vehicle maintenance area. Moderate levels of oil/lubricant were noted to the storeroom floor and at least one 44 gallon drum appeared to be overflowing with oil due to a pump transferring oil into the drum. This room was not bunded and was adjacent to an open drain (Photos 6, 7 and 8 within Appendix B).
- Several metal grill covered drains were located throughout the Site, and in particular within and surrounding the vehicle service centre. Hydrocarbon sheens were noted to various external locations within close proximity of the metal grill covered drains (Photos 9 and 10 within Appendix B). It is not known whether water entering these drains is treated prior to discharge to the council operated stormwater system.
- In general, the concrete and asphalt hardstands throughout the Site were considered to be in a good condition. However, several cracks and penetrations were noted in areas of high vehicle usage and within the south western corner of the Site. In addition, expansions joints between several concrete slabs were noted to have deteriorated or were no longer present.
- In addition to the oils and lubricant stored within the Main Oil Store, moderate quantities of oils, lubricants, cleaning chemicals, solvents and paints were primarily located within maintenance workshops and cleaners cupboards. In addition, several containers were stored in open air locations and within isolated areas of the Site. The majority of chemical containers noted were stored in areas lacking secondary containment. Although the containers appeared to be in a satisfactory condition, minor staining to the concrete hardstand surrounding these locations was identified.
- Wastes were segregated into general waste and recyclable streams (paper / cardboard, plastics and oils) and are routinely collected by a waste contractor.
- No significant emissions to air were identified during the site inspection. Vehicle emissions in the open air car parking areas and small split system air conditioning units were sources of minor air emissions. The



majority of the Site is sealed and all unsealed portions are landscaped. As such, there is little potential for dust generation.

- The Site is situated within a predominantly commercial/industrial area. Although not measured, no
 excessive levels of noise were observed from the Site or surrounding businesses during the inspection.
- The following were noted during the Site inspection in relation to water management:
 - The Site is connected to a municipal water supply with no groundwater abstraction or rainwater collection systems.
 - The Site is connected to the municipal stormwater system.
 - The Site is connected to the municipal sewer system.
- There were no dry cleaning operations on or adjacent to the Site. In addition, it was anecdotally reported that the Site has historically not contained any dry cleaning operations.
- The Site inspection and historical background review did not identify a potential for vapour generation on the Site or in the immediate surrounding area.
- There was no evidence to suggest that the Site is located in a known or suspected zone of elevated radon concentrations.

In regards to asbestos containing materials, the following areas of concern were identified:

- It was reported that the Site does not have a current Asbestos or Hazardous Materials Register.
- Potential asbestos containing materials identified during the inspection included (note that no samples were obtained):
 - Window mastic to eastern wall of vehicle maintenance workshop
 - Old brake pads stored within external south western corner
 - Vinyl floor tiles within Vehicle Maintenance Workshop lunch room
 - Toilet partition within male amenities of Vehicle Maintenance Workshop
 - Gaskets to pre-2003 constructed/manufactured pipe work and machinery

5 Findings

5.1 Potential Soil and Groundwater Contamination

5.1.1 Historical On-Site Contamination Sources

WSP consider that there is a potential for soil and/or groundwater impacts to have occurred within the Site as a result of historical landuses, primarily related to uncontrolled filling activities associated with former quarrying activities of the previous Site owner (brick and tile manufacturer).

Although excavation works had been undertaken within the eastern half of the Site during the original redevelopment, the western half of the Site is not considered to have been subject to excavation works as this area is level with the surrounding topography. As such, any imported uncontrolled fill material within the south western corner is considered to remain in place.

In addition, WSP identified a potential fill/dip point associated with an underground storage tank (UST) to the centre of the northern boundary. No further information was provided/obtained as to whether a UST had historically been located within this area.

5.1.2 Current On-Site Contamination Sources

Based on the Site inspection and review of available relevant information, it is considered that there are currently several potential sources of contamination within the Site.

Although the operational 22,500 Litre UST to the western boundary has been subject to tank and fuel line testing, for which both components "PASSED", it should be noted that a UST can leak at a rate of up to 0.38 litres per hour (LPH) and receive a PASS status. Even a leakage rate much less than the permissible 0.38 LPH has the potential to cause soil and/or groundwater impacts, particularly where the UST has been operational for a number of years. In addition, the fuel line test may be considered inconclusive due to the final leak rate that was encountered (26 mL per hour).

The refuelling area surrounding the fuel bowser is considered to pose a potential contamination risk due to the presence of a metal grill covered pit. No information was provided as to its function, servicing records and where the contained liquid within the pit is disposed to.

The wash down bay, located within the south western corner, remains a potential source of soil and/or groundwater contamination due to its extensive use and potential hydrocarbon impacted water entering the surrounding environment. In addition, no service/maintenance records were provided in relation to the oil/water separator connected to the wash down bay and this unit also presents a potential source of contamination.

Hydrocarbon sheens were noted to several locations throughout the Site, and in particular to the western half of the Site. These sheens are considered to be the result of the inadequate storage and leaks and spills of hydrocarbon based products. The sheens were identified in areas adjacent to open drains and no information was provided regarding the discharge point for the drainage network. A potential remains that the leaks and spills have entered the surrounding environment through the open drains and cracks/penetrations within the concrete/asphalt hardstand.

Although the majority of stored oil and lubricants were stored in adequate containers and aboveground storage tanks, a moderate quantity of oil/lubricant was noted to the concrete floor of the Main Oil Storeroom. This is considered to be the result of an "overflowing" 44 gallon drum and several incorrectly stored drums. The storeroom did not contain secondary containment and an open drain was located within close proximity. A potential remains for hydrocarbon based liquids to enter the open drain and migrate into the surrounding environment.



5.1.3 Historical and Existing Off-Site Contamination Sources

With the exception of land to the south of the Site, historical and existing landuses of surrounding sites are considered to pose a low risk of soil and/or groundwater impacts to the Site.

Land to the south of the Site had historically been used for quarrying purposes in relation to the manufacturing of bricks and tiles – it should be noted that these activities extended into the south western corner of the subject Site (see Section 5.1.1). WSP considers that the historical importation of fill material within the up-gradient former quarry may have the potential to impact Site soils and/or groundwater.

5.1.4 Site Vulnerability and Sensitivity

Groundwater vulnerability is a measure of the potential for contamination to reach the groundwater table following a contaminant release. The geology beneath the Site consists of relatively impermeable clays overlying relatively permeable sandy clays and sandstone bedrock. Groundwater is likely to be located at a depth greater than 25 mbgl, representing a low groundwater migration potential.

5.2 Hazardous Materials

The various potential asbestos containing materials identified throughout the Site were not considered to pose a significant risk to site workers in their current state, however as the majority of the Site buildings were constructed prior to 2004, an Asbestos Assessment of the Site must be undertaken and an Asbestos Register and Management Plan must be prepared should asbestos or potential asbestos containing materials be identified. This is the responsibility of the person with management or control of the workplace and is a requirement under the NSW Work Health and Safety Act 2011 and associated Regulation (2011).

6 Environmental Risk Assessment

Based on the information obtained and reviewed as part of this Phase 1 Environmental Due Diligence, it is the opinion of WSP Environmental Pty Ltd that the property at 10 Herbert Street, St Leonards, NSW represents a **Moderate** risk of environmental liability for the continued commercial/industrial use of the Site and any future Site redevelopment works.

As such, WSP Environmental recommend that a Targeted Investigation should be undertaken in relation to the environmental issues noted within this report to document the potential contamination status of the Site.



7 Limitations

The findings of this report are governed by the Scope outlined within Section 1.2. As with any type of investigation the confidence in the findings, and the reliance that can be placed on this report, is limited by the Scope. WSP was engaged by the client as an independent consultant to conduct the Scope outlined in this report and to objectively present the results of the investigation conducted. WSP does not have any commercial interest in the Site and has not been engaged to advertise, promote or endorse any client interests.

This report has been prepared for a specific purpose (stated within) for the client. Any other party who intends to rely on this report, or any data presented in this report, must contact WSP prior to doing so. WSP will advise such parties in writing on the extent that they may rely on this report, or data presented in this report. WSP's advice for any such reliance will be based on the available knowledge and the expressed purpose for which the report is to be relied upon. Any party who relies on this report without written advice from WSP does so entirely at their own risk.

The findings of this investigation are based on WSP site observations, information provided by the client and obtained by WSP, and by other referenced sources outside of WSP. WSP trusts that the information provided by these sources is accurate, complete and is not misleading and, unless the Scope states otherwise, we have not been engaged to audit the veracity of any information provided to us. So, while normal assessments of data reliability are made during the course of our work, we assume no responsibility or liability for any errors or any omissions in any information provided by sources outside of WSP. Where inaccurate, incomplete or misleading information is provided to us by external parties there could be significant impacts on the integrity of this report. As such no warranties, expressed or implied, can be made.

This report must not be reproduced or referenced unless in full.

8 References

- NSW OEH (2011) Contaminated Sites: Guidelines for Consultants Reporting on Contaminated Sites
- NSW Department of Mineral Resources (1983) Sydney 1:100,000 Geological Series Sheet 9130
- The Australian Soil Resource Information System (ASRIS) Acid Sulphate Risk Map
- NSW Department of Land and Property Information, SIXViewer Interactive Topographic Map accessed 1 July 2013
- NSW Natural Resources Atlas, <u>http://www.nratlas.nsw.gov.au/</u> accessed 1 July 2013
- NSW Work Health and Safety Act 2011
- NSW Work Health and Safety Regulation 2011
- Tanknology Australia (September 2011) Vacutect Tank & Line Condition Report, North Shore Auto Group



Appendix A – Site Location



FIGURE 1

Sinterior & WSP

Appendix B – Site Photographs





Site Location

10 Herbert Street, St Leonards, NSW







Site Location

10 Herbert Street, St Leonards, NSW





Site Location

10 Herbert Street, St Leonards, NSW





PHOTOGRAPHIC LOG

Site Location

10 Herbert Street, St Leonards, NSW





-	W	S	P	
		-		

Site Location

10 Herbert Street, St Leonards, NSW



Photo No.	Date
10	3 July 2013
Description	L
Hydrocarbon sh drain adjacent to Separator.	een to open o Oil/Water

Appendix C – Historical Title Search

Title Tree Lot C DP 401303

Folio Identifier C/401303

Certificate of Title Volume 7410 Folio 201

(a)

(b)

CTVol 6120 Fol 237

CTVol 6165 Fol 118

Summary of proprietors Lot C DP 401303

Year

Proprietor

	(Lot C DP 401303)		
2005 - todate	Motive Properties 11 Pty Limited		
1992 - 2005	General Motors-Holden's Sales Pty Limited		
1989 - 1992	Jennings Group Limited		
(1989 – todate)	(various current commercial lease shown on Historical Folio		
	<i>C/401303)</i>		
	(Lot C DP 401303 - Area 2 Acres 0 Roods 26 ³ / ₄ Perches -		
	CTVol 7410 Fol 201)		
1988 – 1989	Jennings Industries Limited		
(1970 – 1981)	(lease to Garden Chemicals (Australasia) Pty Limited of part)		
1957 – 1988	Larke Neave Investments Pty Limited		

See Notes (a) & (b)

Note (a)

.

	(Part 1 Acre 3 Roods 5 2/3Perches Grant – CTVol 6120 Fol 237)
1950 – 1957	North Sydney Brick and Tile Company Pty Limited

Note (b)

	(Part Portion 320 Parish Willoughby and other lands – Area 52 Acres		
	3 Roods 10 ¼ Perches - CTVol 6165 Fol 118)		
1950 – 1957	North Sydney Brick and Tile Company Pty Limited		









Advance Legal Searchers Pty Ltd hereby certifies that the information contained in this document has been provided electronically by the Registrar General in accordance with Section 96B(2) of the Real Property Act. Information provided through Tri-Search an approved LPLNSW Information Broker

LAND AND PROPERTY INFORMATION NEW SOUTH WALES - TITLE SEARCH

FOLIO: C/401303

SEARCH DATE	TIME	EDITION NO	DATE
26/6/2013	4:27 PM	6	8/7/2010

LAND

LOT C IN DEPOSITED PLAN 401303 LOCAL GOVERNMENT AREA WILLOUGHBY PARISH OF WILLOUGHBY COUNTY OF CUMBERLAND TITLE DIAGRAM DP401303

FIRST SCHEDULE

MOTIVE PROPERTIES 11 PTY LIMITED

(T AB204183)

SECOND SCHEDULE (3 NOTIFICATIONS)

1 LAND EXCLUDES MINERALS AND IS SUBJECT TO RESERVATIONS AND CONDITIONS IN FAVOUR OF THE CROWN - SEE CROWN GRANT(S)

2 AE933938 MORTGAGE TO CAPITAL FINANCE AUSTRALIA LIMITED

3 AF617762 MORTGAGE TO WESTPAC BANKING CORPORATION

NOTATIONS

UNREGISTERED DEALINGS: NIL

*** END OF SEARCH ***

WSP - St Leonards



/Pgs:ALL g S. OK /Sts -2000 -dul 22 од г: Reg:R813745 Ref:ALS /Src

<u>
</u> 1974 :14 626 J. Sureyor derick Str to the pu Alexander of 120 S **(**•••) 15 page 1.0 Regist × 2. . - . Surveyor Q.4.5 - 1 icard (Roca 11/56 , -- k Council Clerk's Cortificate No Date 73 Reser

		g:R813784 /Doc:DL E715492 /Rev:31-May-2010 /Sts:OK.SC /Prt:26-Jun-2013 16:31 E:WSP - St Leonards /Src:T RP13 TRANSFER Re Phone Act, 1900	/Pgs:ALL /Seq:1 of 1 E 715492 L				
		Office of Sta.	-200 FTT (61				
•	• •	(A) LAND TRANSFERRED Show no more than 20 References to Title. If appropriate, specify the share transferred.	FOLIO IDENTIFIER C/401303				
	(B)	(B) LODGED BY Name, Address or DX and Reference (max. 15 character	LAWYERS GOLDFIELDS HOUSE CIRCULAR QUAY TEL 330 8000 SYDNEY				
-	(C)	(C) TRANSFEROR JENNINGS GROUP LIMITED (A.C.N					
-		of 350 Wellington Road, Mulgrave, Victoria acknowledges receipt of the consideration of\$3,500,000.00 and as regards the land specified above transfers to the transferee an estate in fee simple					
	(E)	(E) subject to the following ENCUMBRANCES 1. Nil 2	subject to the following ENCUMBRANCES 1. N/L 2				
	(F) [G)	TRANSFEREE GENERAL MOTORS-HOLDEN'S SALES PTY LIMITED (A.C.N. 004 688 831) of 241 Salmon Street, Port Melbourne, Victoria S as joint tenants/tenants in common S					
,		(H) We certify this dealing correct for the purposes of the Real DATE OF Property Act, 1900	EXECUTION 13 Avs UST 1992				
		Signed in my presence by the transferor who is personally known to me THE COMMON SEAL of JENNINGS GROUP LIMITED .was.bereunto.affixed in accordance with its Signeture of Winges					
		Articles of Association in the presence of:	Articles of Association in the presence of:				
		Secretary Directo	Signature-of Transferor				
		Signed in my presence by the transferee who is personally known to me					
		Signature of Witness	Λ				
		Name of Witness (BLOCK LETTERS)	cherpmont				
= مر		M B ・ INSTRUCTIONS FOR FILLING OUT THIS FORM ARE AVAILABLE FROM THE LAND THTLES OFFICE いのかく かっちがい っぱ さかからだちたのの みく ちょいがたいのよう のくみつみ つうかう	the Signature of Transferee REYMOND CHECKED BY (office use only)				
	<u> </u>	0 0 LTD 27.7.92.					



P In-Ime



Advance Legal Searchers Pty Ltd Phone: 02 9754 1590

Advance Legal Searchers Pty Ltd hereby certifies that the information contained in this document has been provided electronically by the Registrar General. Information provided through Tri-Search an approved LPINSW Information Broker LAND AND PROPERTY INFORMATION NEW SOUTH WALES - HISTORICAL SEARCH

FOLIO: C/401303

First	Title(s):	SEE	PRIOR TITLE(S)
Prior	Title(s):	VOL	7410 FOL 201

Recorded	Number	Type of Instrument	C.T. Issue
2/9/1989		TITLE AUTOMATION PROJECT	LOT RECORDED FOLIO NOT CREATED
15/1/1990		CONVERTED TO COMPUTER FOLIO	FOLIO CREATED CT NOT ISSUED
22/4/1992	E400892	MORTGAGE	EDITION 1
26/8/1992 26/8/1992	E715491 E715492	DISCHARGE OF MORTGAGE TRANSFER	EDITION 2
19/1/1994	1959173	LEASE	EDITION 3
14/1/2005 14/1/2005	AB204183 AB204184	TRANSFER MORTGAGE	EDITION 4
18/5/2009	AE684007	CAVEAT	
27/8/2009 27/8/2009	AE933937 AE933938	WITHDRAWAL OF CAVEAT MORTGAGE	EDITION 5
	AF617761 AF617762	DISCHARGE OF MORTGAGE MORTGAGE	EDITION 6

*** END OF SEARCH ***

WSP - St Leonards

PRINTED ON 26/6/2013

Req:E195696 /Doc:CT 7410-201 /Rev:5-Mar-2009 /Sts:OK.OK /Prt:26-Jun-2013 16:32 /Pgs:ALL /Seq:1 of 2 Ref:WSP - St Leonards /Src:T



Sfr; F2: 67: 7! 0 Epd; DUI 8521. 3121 0 Sfw, 6. Nbs. 311: ! 0 Tut; PL/ FL! 0 Csu; 37. Kvo. 3124! 27; 43! 0 Cht; BMM 0 Tfr; 3! pgl 3 Sfg; XTC!. ! Tul M pobset! 0 Tsd; U




Reg:E195738 /Doc:CT 6165-118 /Rev:27-Feb-2009 /Sts:OK.OK /Prt:26-Jun-2013 16:41 /Pgs:ALL /Seq:1 of 4 Ref:ALS /Src:T

203 PG400-1 12-18 Appn. Nos. 5141 and 7019 New South Males [CENTIFICATE OF TITLE] Reference to Last Certificate Vol. 3033 Fol. 175 ORDER NO. D928220 REGISTER BOOK. 6165 _{Fol} 118 Vol CANCELLED IN W A AND NORTH STURY DRIG - TILF CONTANY FTY. LEWITED, by wirtue of Certificate of Title Volume 3033 Folio 175 now surrendered is now the proprietor of an Estate in Fee Simple ambject nevertheless to the resorvations and conditions if any contained in the Grants hereinafter referred to and also subject to such encumbrances liens and interests as are notified hereon in Firstly That Piece of Land aituated in the Municipality of Willoughby Parish of Willoughby and County of Cumberland containing Twenty two acres one rood cleven and one half porches or thereabouts being part of 25 mores (Portion 320 of Parish) originally granted to Thomas Baker by Crown Grant dated the 19th day of November, 1794. Secondly, Those pieces of land situated as aforesaid containing Thirty acres one rood thirty sight and three quarters perches or thereabouts being Lots 1 to 37 inclusive of Section 3 and part of Lots 5 and 54 of Section 4 in Deposited Plan No.1206, Lots 6 to 15 inclusive and Part of Lots 1 and 2 of Section 4 and Lots 13 to 18 inclusive of Section 5 in Deposited Plan No.4088 and Lot 17 of Section 2 in Deposited Plan No.4537 and part of the sites of Fortland and Clarendon Streets as shown in Deposited Plans Nos. 1206, 4083 and 4537 and being also part of 25 mores (Portion 317 of Parish) originally granted to Charles Robinson by Crown Grant dated the 19th day of November 1794, and also part of 104 acres (Portion 275 of Parish) originally granted to James Williamson, Henry Asser and Thomas Jennings by Grown Grant dated the 15th day of September, 1796. -In witness whereor I have hereunto signed my have and affixed my Seal, this Twonly-Lourth Fits Gerald Signed in the presence of Registrar General, NO ITFICATION REFIRED TO 457450 No.47243 Right of Jay as apputtement to Lots 1 to 24 inclusive entered the 17th day of January 1949 at 12 and Lot 35.02' Section 3 in Deposited Plan No.1205 above described over Lot 19 of Section 5 in Deposited Flan No.4035, coloured blue Pegiatrar General in the plan hereon. elt TRANSFER dated 2/14 Secondard 9 4 The said 's the Sudrey Brick and The to Hackbertown (11) Sogistrar Seneral 10 of the land within described Produced 82 Johnney 19.55 and cutered 1/ Actober 19.5 No. D399619 Lease dated the fast day of June 1945 from North Sydney Brick and Tile Company Limited to the Sydney County. 12 o'clock in the ni ---Gouncil of part of the land above described together with Loy Right of Way and other rights. Produced the 2nd day of and new Corfficate issuin-7 1 August 1945 and entered the 10th day of December 1945 210 o'clock noon. _ RECETRAR CENERA . # allo F244691 Registrar General. land it is 10. 12 11 No. D399651 Lease dated the 1st day of June 1945 from North Sydney Brick and Tile Company Limited to The Sydney County Council of part of the land above described Together. with Bight of May and other rights Produced the 2nd day of Acquis hora August 1945 and entered the 10th day of December 1945 at 12 O'clock noon. a grand Mells. Registrar General No. F 834550 TRANSFER --- dated - 25th - March 1953 NORTH SYDNEY BRICK AND TILE COMPANY PTY LIMITED TO THE ROYAL NORTH SHORE HOSPITAL OF SYDNEY, of Orows Nest, of the land No. 1516285 Lease dated the 23rd day of May 1946 from North 47 Sydney Brick and Tile Company Pty. Limited to Ready Mixed within described. Produced 8th April 1953 and entered 24th April Concrete (New South Vales) Pty. Idealted of part Together with. 1953 at 12 o' clock noon, -the to land in 115 therefore mitaleftect in complete for and genericatories Right of dev Produced the 5th day of July 1996 and entered alle 100 201 the 4th day of December 1946 at 12 o'clock Registrar General, 201 01.17 2L Registrer General. 457450 No. 1925737 Caveat dated the 19th day of November 1948 as regards part. Produced the 13th day of Hovember 1946 and 1

Req:B195738 /Doc:CT 6165-118 /Rev:27-Feb-2009 /Sts:OK.OK /Prt:26-Jun-2013 16:41 /Pgs:ALL /Seq:2 of 4 Ref:ALS /Src:T

Ready Minu Constant 19 58 No. 450 3245 TRANSTER Jated 1477 _ March_ 1955_ 30] 10 Australian Mondowsting boundaries of fast Freed, 0324 dit Land within described of the land within described. ng care deamage 2 12 Entered 12 at Security is to lead in this transfer this deed is consisted that here reduced based Vol. - Fel 195 1. h Pett NY FOL ESCISTS AIC CONTRAL REGISTRAR GENERAL 11th H542 567 Transfor and Grand didd 9th May 1960 to AP . Na G 638364 TRANSFER d. d / Al December 1967. to ______ Lande Tique Bracetimenta Oty ______ lande Tique Bracetimenta Oty ______ offict Cin plan corrected to G 6 38 364 Recovery careement for dramag it of the Municipality of Wills The Co for suffert as more fully + affecting part of the land within described lored 15 th September 1960 Januara 7 4 Registras Semeral Carrie 6th December 19517 No HS42568 TRANSILR days 1 d July of A. 9 Heldings (Austalia) Pill Lines (Che temando) Pill Lines of Anno 1990 (Martin Start Star the south of the second 1960_ Pro hinked J. M. C. In Norm Seccord ne and Marguel Anne Bartest of 1 Nog 15 05 gf TRANSFER SI 2241 June 1907 The Common calle of australia a, me land within described 11542568 Removing savement for drainage Subject to covenant Entered 15 " September As to hard in this was at this cheed it was at Not Net S. Fail 8 3/8 (4)5-XAMPS(RP)98730 .. 60 W. is the low when described. 1. 6th Decenter :51 NoH585050 TRANSFER and 19 Marguest 19 60. to Maindon Phy. Limited of Lef 3 bu flow annous of the Jones of the manager 159 J. Hello of the land within described yasfer and Grant dated 12th June 1958 in and Frant access in a for the second of the trunicipality of the trunicipality of the trunce of the second instances the second instances Entered 13 M Septem As to lend in turn transie this deed in can trans 136c lecting that part of the lund with atro Val Shew cestimitere 170 AN CENERAL Sec.5 the plan hiseon Enterese Atts homendus 1953 The interest of the Council of the Monie/Lyof <u>Milloughy</u> in the New road I de-addition of density road No 17 65402 Fransfer and 4 shown on D.P. 22174 datese 12/2 June 1958 to The Council of the municipality of will Entered 61 7/1964 of an casement for support or my Chogistrar General n, that post of the land withour described _is subject to Lot_3_in D.P. 221741_ the provisions of Section 340 A of the Lacab Covernment Act, 1919. Entered 617/1964 Entercer ft charmen Egistrar Coneral Racio-tion Ecu .

Req:E195738 /Doc:CT 6165-118 /Rev:27-Feb-2009 /Sts:OK.OK /Prt:26-Jun-2013 16:41 /Pgs:ALL /Seq:3 of 4 Ref:ALS /Src:T



Sfr; F2; 6849! 0Epd; DU! 7276. 229! 0Sf w, 38. Gf c. 311: 1 0Tut; PL/ PL! 0Qsu; 37. Kvo. 3124! 27; 52! 0Cht; BMM 0Tf r; 51 pg] 5 Sfg; BMI! 0Tsd; U

2 05T to account of 08 2217941 The restance of least in this 1000 concess This deed is centralied as to PART LOT B IN D.P. 398730 New Cornfigures of Tius have leaved for late in Sale-Lola dante Sum Vol. Port Fold For For Prospectively electronic enternet nitation rs co.sca.tese this Deed is cancelled and New Certificate of Title Issued, Vol. <u>1305</u> Z. Fol. 85 dated 11-6-1976 Vide.<u>164355</u> C DEGISTRAR GONERAD No. K. 16751 LARSAS ... dated 3RD MRY 1965 An THE STOREST CONTRACT CONTRACT OF THE PROPERTY STOREST STOREST Jak a to The second REGISTRAR GENERAL Entered 2 trating 19 61 Jakaon REGISTICAR GENIFRAL LEASESNOS ATTEN , 211 151, 216215 has expired by emaxion of time = Entered 2012 Austinher 1966 14 2 Latson ų, REGISTRAR GENERAL No. K415106 ---- SURAE YOUR dougd 2nd Hing \sim of Lesse No. K16751 - Entered 201 September 1966 margan REGISTRAR CONFRAL His Kulstor Leave dated 22nd June, 1111 to the p Junet of the priming devoted to flepting in jule Sure the Kulstor devoted with high of they and for Charrency purposes with 22 the African sity of Jakso REGISTRAR GENERAL De. 10x ġ, NS-M636104 MORIGAGE dated 2911 February 1972 Billow Williamson & lo U.S. Balfour Williamson 16 for desiries function Balfour Williamson Inconforsted and Balfour Williamson (hartratice) brokietary finited as regardothe residue Entered 2011 June 1972 made Kagnand (63) REGISTRAR GENERAL C. SA! MORTGAGE No. MG36104 has been discharged. 1973 Entered 14th May Nalleya marcon REGISTRAR GENERAL 15 AN AV •

Appendix D – Historical Aerial Photographs





Key

Approximate Site Boundary

Approximate Scale

250

Metres

Aerial Photograph (1943) 10 Herbert Street, St Leonards, NSW 00040297





Key



Aerial Photograph (1956) 10 Herbert Street, St Leonards, NSW 00040297









Aerial Photograph (1965) 10 Herbert Street, St Leonards, NSW 00040297





Key



Approximate Site Boundary

Aerial Photograph (1976) 10 Herbert Street, St Leonards, NSW 00040297





Key



Aerial Photograph (1986) 10 Herbert Street, St Leonards, NSW 00040297





Key

Approximate Site Boundary

Aerial Photograph (1999) 10 Herbert Street, St Leonards, NSW 00040297





Key

Approximate Site Boundary

Aerial Photograph (2012) 10 Herbert Street, St Leonards, NSW 00040297



Appendix E – Groundwater Bore Search





WSP Environment & Energy 41 McLaren Street North Sydney NSW 2060

